
CITY OF FRANKLIN 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING* 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

AGENDA 

THURSDAY, JUNE 9, 2022, 7:00 P.M. 

               

The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission 

meeting so that the public will be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov.   

 

 

A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B.  Approval of Minutes 

 

 1. Approval of regular meeting of May 19, 2022. 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters (action may be taken on all matters following  

                                                                      the respective Public Hearing thereon) 

 

1. WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT.  Special Use 

and Site Plan applications by Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, 

LLC (Boomtown, LLC, property owner), to allow for the development of a 

condominium complex (Woodfield Trail), consisting of 26 dwelling units 

arranged in 13 side-by-side duplex structures, which will include a new cul-de-sac 

street connecting to West Ryan Road, with sidewalks on both sides, street trees, a 

landscaped berm along West Loomis Road, 3 stormwater management areas and 

public water and sewer service to all dwelling units, property located at 12000 

West Loomis Road (15.6 acres), such property being zoned R-8 Multiple-Family 

Residence District; Tax Key No. 891-9011-000 [a Special Use permit is required 

in the R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District for all residential uses, either 

single-family, two-family or multi-family].  A PUBLIC HEARING IS 

SCHEDULED FOR THIS MEETING UPON THE SPECIAL USE 

APPLICATION OF THIS MATTER.   

 

D. Business Matters (no Public Hearing is required upon the following matters; action may be   

                                           taken on all matters) 

 

E. Adjournment 

 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 
 

**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which they have 

decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the 
Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 

 

[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 

 
REMINDERS: 

Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: June 23, 2022  

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


Page 1                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                               May 19, 2022  

 City of Franklin unapproved  
 Plan Commission Meeting                            

May 19, 2022 
Minutes 

 
A. Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mayor Steve Olson called the May 19, 2022, regular Plan 
Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, 
Franklin, Wisconsin.  
 
Present were Mayor Steve Olson, Commissioners Patrick 
Leon, Patricia Hogan and Adam Burckhardt, Alderwoman 
Shari Hanneman and City Engineer Glen Morrow. Excused 
was Commissioner Kevin Haley. Also present were City 
Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Principal Planner Régulo 
Martínez-Montilva and Associate Planner Marion Ecks.  
 

B. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

1. Regular Meeting of May 5, 2022.  
 
 
 
 
C.   Public Hearing Business Matters 
 
1.    ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW 
FOR SIGN PERMITTING IN THE 
CITY OF FRANKLIN BUSINESS 
PARK (PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 18). Planned 
Development District No. 18 Ordinance 
Text Amendment application by the City 
of Franklin/Department of City 
Development, to streamline the sign 
permitting process in the Franklin 
Business Park (Planned Development 
District No. 18) by allowing for 
administrative review of sign permits by 
Department of City Development staff 
exclusively, without the prerequisite of 
an additional review and approval by the 
Community Development Authority 
(CDA).  
 
2.    ANASTASIA SKIN ATELIER, 
LLC BEAUTY SALON. Special Use 
application by Anastasia E. Garman, 
owner, d/b/a Anastasia Skin Atelier, 
LLC, to operate a one employee beauty 
salon, with hours of operation generally 
from 12:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m., Monday 

Commissioner Hogan moved and Alderwoman Hanneman 
seconded a  motion to approve the May 5, 2022, regular 
meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried 
(5-0-1). 
 
 
 
The Official Notice of Public hearing for a Planned 
Development District No. 18 Ordinance Text Amendment  was 
read in to the record by Associate Planner Marion Ecks and the 
Public Hearing was opened at 7:04 p.m. and closed at 7:04 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Hogan 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of an Ordinance 
to amend Planned Development District No. 18 as it pertains 
to the administration of sign permits, with the addition of a 
sentence previously discussed at CDA (Community 
Development Authority). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 
motion carried. (5-0-1).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Associate Planner Marion Ecks presented the request by  
Anastasia E. Garman, owner, d/b/a Anastasia Skin Atelier, 
LLC, to operate a one employee beauty salon, with hours of 
operation generally from 12:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m., Monday 
through Saturday, in Suite 240 of the multi-tenant building 
located at 11113 West Forest Home Avenue, property zoned 
M-1 Limited Industrial District; Tax Key No. 704-9978-002 



Page 2                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                               May 19, 2022  

through Saturday, in Suite 240 of the 
multi-tenant building located at 11113 
West Forest Home Avenue, property 
zoned M-1 Limited Industrial District; 
Tax Key No. 704-9978-002.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
D. Business Matters 
 
1.     HOME DEPOT (STORE 4907) 
OUTDOOR SALES. Temporary Use 
application by Home Depot USA, Inc., 
for outdoor seasonal trees, shrubs and 
landscape bagged goods sales, for 
property zoned Planned Development 
District No. 14 (Jewel-Osco/Home 
Depot) and FW Floodway District, 
located at 6489 South 27th Street; Tax 
Key No. 714-9996-015.  
 
Adjournment 
 

The Official Notice of Public hearing for a Special Use was 
read in to the record by Associate Planner Marion Ecks and the 
Public Hearing was opened at 7:09 p.m. and closed at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Burckhardt 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of a Resolution 
imposing conditions and restrictions for the approval of a 
Special Use for a beauty salon use upon property located at 
11113 West Forest Home Avenue, Suite 240. On voice vote, 
all voted ‘aye’; motion carried. (5-0-1). 
 
 
 
Alderwoman Hanneman moved and Commissioner Hogan 
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution imposing conditions 
and restrictions for the approval of a Temporary Use for 
outdoor seasonal tree and shrub sales for property located at 
6489 South 27th Street. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 
motion carried. (5-0-1).  
 
 
 
 
 
Commissioner Hogan moved and Commissioner Leon 
seconded to adjourn the Plan Commission meeting of May 19, 
2022 at 7:13 p.m.. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 
carried. (5-0-1).  

  
 



 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of June 9, 2022 
 

SPECIAL USE & SITE PLAN 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends to table this Special Use and Site Plan 
until the applicant submits a geotechnical report to attest that the soil bearing pressure capacity of the 
engineered fill soils and the underlying natural soils is adequate for the proposed development. 
 

Property Owner: Woodfield Trail condominium, Special Use & Site Plan 
Applicant: S.R. Mills. Boomtown, LLC  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 12000 W Loomis Rd. 
Aldermanic District: District 6 
Agent: Daniel Szczap. Bear Development, LLC 
Zoning District:  R-8 – Multiple-Family Residence District 
Use of Surrounding Properties: North: Planned Development District No. 40 (Cape 

Crossing), single-family residential. 
 South: Vacant properties zoned residential, R-2 and R-8.  
 East: Vacant and single-family residential zoned R-8 
 West: We-energies right-of-way and vacant land owned by 

the State of Wisconsin. 

Proposal: Two-family residential condominium with 26 dwelling units 
served by a cul-de-sac street. 

Staff Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, Planning Manager 

 
INTRODUCTION 
The proposed Woodfield Trail condominium would have 26 dwelling units arranged in 13 duplex 
structures, side-by-side. Major improvements include a new cul-de-sac street connecting to Ryan Road 
with sidewalks on both sides, street trees, a landscaped berm along Loomis Road, 3 stormwater 
management areas and public water and sewer service to all dwelling units. 
 
This development was presented before the Common Council on April 5, 2021, as a Concept Review. 
Then, this 15.6-acre site was created by Certified Survey Map No. 9338 recorded on August 6; and the 
C-1 Conservancy District zoning was removed from such site by rezoning Ordinance No. 2021-2480 
on September 21. This development received a variance by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals 
to allow for a reduced 20-foot front setback on January 19, 2022; and a Natural Resource Special 
Exception (NRSE) was granted on February 1 to allow for after-the-fact impacts to wetland buffers. 
 
It is worth noting that a Special Use permit is required in the R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District 
for all residential uses, either single-family, two-family or multi-family. 
 
 
 

Item C.1. 



 
 

2 

PROJECT ANALYSIS: 
There are a few existing constraints to the property that impact the design and development of this 
project.  
 

1. Wetland buffers and setbacks. Most of the proposed residential structures are located 
between the future Woodfield Court and wetland areas. The UDO does not allow structures to 
encroach into the 50-foot wetland setback and the 30-foot wetland buffer must remain 
undisturbed. This property was a WISDOT fill site and areas of wetland buffers (0.58 acres) 
have been previously impacted by grading activities, this wetland buffer impact is depicted in 
the Natural Resource Protection Plan (NRPP). A Natural Resource Special Exception was 
granted on February 1, 2022, (appendix #1). It is worth noting that none of the proposed 
residential structures will encroach into the 50-foot wetland setback 
 

2. Soil borings and geotechnical report still recommended. The applicant submitted a report 
titled “Construction Testing Services Summary Report No. 1” dated March 11, 2019 (appendix 
#2). As mentioned above, this property was a fill site for Wisconsin DOT project and this 
report stated that “with the exception of the fill placed within the central portion of the site, that 
the engineered fills tested by CGC were compacted satisfactorily and in general agreement with 
the project requirements” (page 4). Per Figure 1 – Proposed fill area, the referenced central area 
requires additional drying and recompaction, the applicant has not provided documentation 
confirming that this has been completed. Note that approximately 5 residential structures and a 
segment of Woodfield Court is proposed in this area. Furthermore, this report states that “It 
should be recognized, however, that this report and its findings/results, is not intended to be and 
should not be used as a substitute for a subsurface exploration and foundation subgrade 
evaluation which is required to determine the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered 
fill soils and the underlying natural soils”. 
 
City Development staff recommends that the applicant must submit a geotechnical report to 
attest that the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered fill soils and the underlying 
natural soils is adequate for the proposed development.  
 

 
Proposed fill area, figure 1 in Construction Testing Services Summary Report No. 1 prepared by CGC, 
Inc. Appendix #2. 



 
 

3 

 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS 
Special Use and Site Plan Applications are subject to the following provisions of the UDO: 

• §15-3.0701 General Standards for Special Uses 
• §15-7.0102 Principles and Standards of Review, Site Plans 

 
General standards for Special Uses (§15-3.0701) 
 
Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

1. Harmony with UDO 
and Comprehensive 
Plan purposes and 
intent.  

The northern portion of this site is designated as residential-multifamily in 
the future land use map of the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive 
Master Plan. The southern portion is designated as commercial but it is 
constrained by an access restriction to Loomis Road. The western portion 
is designated as Areas of Natural Resource Features, the wetland areas 
located on this site would be protected by conservation easements as 
indicated in the Natural Resource Protection Plan.  
 
It is worth noting that per Wisconsin Statutes §66.1001(2m)(b) “A 
conditional use permit that may be issued by a political subdivision does 
not need to be consistent with the political subdivision's comprehensive 
plan”. 
 

2. No Undue Adverse 
Impact. 

City Development staff does not anticipate any “undue adverse impact” to 
adjacent properties because conservation easements would be provided to 
the west and east of the proposed development, as well as a landscape 
bufferyard with a berm to the south along Loomis Road. 
 

3. No Interference with 
Surrounding 
Development. 

The proposed dwellings are designed to meet the maximum permitted 
height for single-family and two-family homes in the R-8 zoning district.  
 

4. Adequate Public 
Facilities. 

The proposed development will be served by public water supply and 
sanitary sewer service. It is noted that access to public water and sewer is a 
requirement for residential development in the R-8 zoning district per 
UDO Section 15-3.0209.A  “District Intent”.  
 
Per Fire Department comments: “this area is not well-served by existing 
fire stations and staffing, and that effective response force (ERF) response 
times may exceed industry and department benchmarks for both EMS and 
fire calls. The City is in planning to relocate Station #2 to the West, and 
enhance staffing at that station, which will serve to remedy this situation in 
the future, but even as this continues to move forward, it is still years out”. 
 

5. No Traffic 
Congestion. 

The proposed 26 dwelling units would be served by a new cul-de-sac street 
connecting to Ryan Road. A Traffic Impact Analysis has not been prepared 
for this development proposal. City staff did not request a Traffic Impact 
Analysis for this development. 
  

6. No Destruction of 
Significant Features. 

Wetland buffer areas (0.58 acres) have been previously impacted by mass 
grading as a result of fill permits for a Wisconsin DOT project.  
 



 
 

4 

Grading within the wetland setback is also proposed, the UDO allows 
grading in the wetland setback provided a permanent vegetative cover is 
installed afterwards.   
 
These impacts to natural resources are subject to the conditions set forth in 
the Standards, Findings and Decision as part of the Natural Resource 
Special Exception granted on February 1, 2022 (appendix #1). 
 

7. Compliance with 
Standards. 

The proposed development complies with the requirements of the R-8 
Multiple-Family Residence District for single-family and two-family 
residential use, including: building setbacks, building height, required 
parking and landscaping. 
 
The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals granted a variance on January 
19, 2022, for a reduced front setback of 20 feet in this development, while 
the minimum front setback in the R-8 district is 25 feet. 
 
All residential structures must comply with the 50-foot wetland setback. 
 

 
Principles and standards of review of Site Plans (§15-7.0102) 
 
Summary of Standard Staff’s Finding 
A. Conformity of Use to 

Zoning District. 
Two-family residential use requires a Special Use permit in the R-8 zoning 
district. All residential uses require a Special Use permit in this zoning district, 
either single-family, two-family or multi-family.  
 

B. Dimensional 
Requirements. 

The proposed development complies with the dimensional requirements for the 
R-8 zoning district set forth in UDO Table 15-3.0209A: 

• Net Density. Proposed: 2.7 dwelling units/acre; Maximum: 5.0 du/ac. 
The net buildable site area is 9.38 acres. 

• All residential structures must comply with the side, rear and wetland 
setbacks. 

• The front setback has been reduced to 20 feet per variance previously 
granted. 
 

C. Site Intensity and Site 
Capacity Calculations 
to be Reviewed. 

Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations were reviewed as part of the Certified 
Survey Map approved by Resolution 2021-7754 on July 20, 2021. 
 
Per the Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations, the maximum density yield of 
this site is 46 dwelling units, while the applicant is proposing 26 units. 
 

D. Use and Design 
Provisions. 

The proposed location for residential structures conforms to the development 
standards for the R-8 zoning district set forth in UDO Section 15-3.0209.    
 

E. Relation to Existing 
and Proposed Streets 
and Highways. 

This development would be connected to Ryan Road through the proposed 
Woodfield Court. The street design for Woodfield Court meets the minimum 
width for a typical minor street of 60 feet and the street length is 769 feet, 
which is under the maximum permitted length for cul-de-sac streets of 800 
feet.  
 



 
 

5 

However, a Site Plan does not allow for dedication of public right-of-way to 
the city, dedication will require a separate Certified Survey Map since a 
condominium plat cannot be used for dedication of public right-of-way. 
 
Based on the Comprehensive Master Plan, Map 7.4 Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Circulation Facilities. City Development staff recommends the installation of a 
pedestrian path per City of Franklin specifications on the south side of Ryan 
Road. The applicant is working with Engineering Department on the location 
of this pedestrian facility, location within the right-of-way is preferred, or 
within an easement on private property as a second option. This pedestrian 
path should be included in the developer’s agreement (condition of approval 
#7). 
 
It is worth noting that direct access to Loomis Road is restricted as indicated in 
the Site Plan. 
 

F. Impacts on 
Surrounding Uses. 

City Development staff does not anticipate major adverse impacts to 
surrounding uses because the developer will be required to provide 
conservation easements to the west and east, and a landscape bufferyard 
easement to the south. 
 

G. Natural Resource 
Features Protection. 

This Site Plan would not approve any impacts to natural resource features as 
defined in the UDO, including but not limited to encroachments of residential 
structures into the wetland buffers and wetland setbacks. Recording of the 
conservation easement document will be required prior to the issuance of 
building permits (condition of approval #4). 
 
See separate Natural Resource Special Exception (appendix #1). 

H. Required Landscaping 
and Landscape 
Bufferyards. 

This development includes a 30-foot landscape bufferyard easement along 
Loomis Road as required by UDO Section 15-5.0102.  
 
Recording of the landscape bufferyard easement document will be required 
prior to the issuance of building permits (condition of approval #5). 
 

I. Provision of 
Emergency Vehicle 
Accessibility. 

See comment from the Fire Department in Special Use standard #4, page 3. 

J. Building Location. The location of residential structures meets required building setbacks and are 
outside the existing easements on this property. 

 

K. Location and Design of 
On-Site Waste 
Disposal and Loading 
Facilities. 

Not applicable as no on-site waste disposal and loading facilities are proposed. 

L. Consistency with 
Intent of UDO. 

The proposed residential development is consistent with the intent of the R-8 
zoning district (UDO Section 15-3.0209), specifically: 

• It would be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities. 
• It would serve as a transition between the M-1 limited manufacturing 

zoning to the southeast in the Ryan Meadows subdivision and single-
family residential zoning to the north. 

 



 
 

6 

M. Consistency with 
Intent of 
Comprehensive Plan. 

The northern portion of this site is designated as residential-multifamily in the 
future land use map of the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan. 
The southern portion is designated as commercial but it is constraint by an 
access restriction to Loomis Road. 
 

N. Determination of 
“Suitability” of Site. 

As noted previously in this staff report (page #2), City Development staff 
recommends that the applicant must submit a geotechnical report to attest that 
the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered fill soils and the underlying 
natural soils is adequate for the proposed development. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
City Development Staff recommends to table this Special Use and Site Plan until the applicant submits a 
geotechnical report to attest that the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered fill soils and the 
underlying natural soils is adequate for the proposed development. 
 
Alternatively, should the Plan Commission recommend approval of the Special Use and approve the Site 
Plan request, City Development staff recommends the submission of the referenced geotechnical report as 
condition of approval #6. 
 
Appendices 

1. Standards, Findings and Decision as part of Natural Resource Special Exception granted on 
February 1, 2022, excluding exhibits. 

2. Construction Testing Services Summary Report No. 1 dated March 11, 2019, and prepared by CGC, 
Inc., excluding appendices B & C. 

 
 

 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                [Draft 06-02-22] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE 
APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A CONDOMINIUM COMPLEX 

DEVELOPMENT USE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT  
12000 WEST LOOMIS ROAD 

(STEPHEN R. MILLS, PRESIDENT OF BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC,  
APPLICANT, BOOMTOWN, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC having 
petitioned the City of Franklin for the approval of a Special Use in an R-8 Multiple-Family 
Residence District, to allow for the development of a condominium complex (“Woodfield 
Trail”), consisting of 26 dwelling units arranged in 13 side-by-side duplex structures, 
property located at 12000 West Loomis Road (15.6 acres), bearing Tax Key No. 891-9011-
000 [a Special Use permit is required in the R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District for all 
residential uses, either single-family, two-family or multi-family], more particularly 
described as follows:  

 
PARCEL 1: A part of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 30, Township 5 North, 
Range 21 East in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, State of 
Wisconsin bounded and described as follows: Beginning at the 1/8 post of the 
North line of said Northwest 1/4 which post is 1325.63 feet West of the 
Northeast corner of said Northwest 1/4, thence West on and along said North 
line of said Northwest 1/4, 223.1 feet to the point in the right of way of the 
Milwaukee Electric Railway and Light Company, thence on and along the line 
of said right of way, 260.01 feet to a point on the arc of the curve of said right 
of way, said curve being to the convex Southeasterly center radius of 7877.6 
feet and said point in said arc being on the long chord 260 feet and South 
39°21' West from the intersection of said line of said right of way and the 
North line of said Northwest 1/4, South 0°17' East 1094.52 feet to a point in 
the centerline of the Loomis Road, thence Northeasterly on a 2° curve along 
said centerline 463.83 feet to a point, said point being on the long chord of 
463.52 feet and North 59°29' East from the first mentioned point on the 
centerline of the Loomis Road; thence North 0°47' West, 1055.3 feet to the 
place of beginning.  The 24.75 feet along the North line of said Northwest 1/4 
being excepted therefrom and the 45 feet perpendicular to the center line of the 
Loomis Road being excepted therefrom further excepting therefrom that part 
hereof described in Deed recorded as Document 7391120; and 
 
WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 

City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 



WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS  – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 2 

 
Commission on the 9th day of June, 2022, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it 
will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that it will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that it will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC, for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described 
in the preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the 
following conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Stephen 
R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC, successors and assigns, as a 
condominium complex development use, which shall be developed in substantial 
compliance with, and operated and maintained by Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC, pursuant to those plans City file-stamped May 31, 2022 and 
annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC, successors and assigns, shall 
pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and 
review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC 
condominium complex development, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, 
and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general 
penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Stephen R. Mills, President of 
Bear Development, LLC, and the condominium complex development use, for the 
property located at 12000 West Loomis Road: (i) being in compliance with all 
applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii)  



WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS  – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 3 

 
obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for 
and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. The applicant must submit a conservation easement for City staff review, Common 
Council approval, and recording with the Milwaukee County Register of Deeds 
Office, prior to the issuance of building permits. 

5. The applicant must submit a landscape bufferyard easement for City staff review, 
Common Council approval, and recording with the Milwaukee County Register of 
Deeds Office, prior to the issuance of building permits. 

6. The applicant must submit a geotechnical report to attest that the soil bearing pressure 
capacity of the engineered fill soils and the underlying natural soils is adequate for the 
proposed development, prior to any land disturbance activity. 

7. The pedestrian path on the south side of Ryan Road, between the future Woodfield 
Court and the east boundary of this development, should be included in the 
development agreement.  

8. This Special Use is not accepting any dedication of land for right-of-way purposes. A 
separate instrument, such as Certified Survey Map, shall be required for dedication of 
land for right-of-way purposes. 

9. Pursuant to the Unified Development Ordinance Section 15-7.0601, a condominium 
plat shall be required for the establishment of a condominium.   

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC, successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not 
comply with one or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, 
following a ten (10) day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the 
Common Council, upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted 
under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 

 



 
WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS  – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-_____ 
Page 4 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
  
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



rmartinez
Typewritten Text

rmartinez
Typewritten Text

rmartinez
Typewritten Text

rmartinez
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A

rmartinez
Typewritten Text



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 5-31-22] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR THE  

DEVELOPMENT OF A CONDOMINIUM COMPLEX WITH ASSOCIATED  
CUL-DE-SAC STREET CONSTRUCTION, SIDEWALKS, LANDSCAPING, 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND PUBLIC WATER AND SEWER SERVICE  
 (12000 WEST LOOMIS ROAD) 

 (STEPHEN R. MILLS, PRESIDENT OF BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC, APPLICANT, 
BOOMTOWN, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 

WHEREAS, Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC having applied 
for approval of a proposed site plan for the development of a condominium complex 
(“Woodfield Trail”), consisting of 26 dwelling units arranged in 13 side-by-side duplex 
structures, which will include a new cul-de-sac street connecting to West Ryan Road, with 
sidewalks on both sides, street trees, a landscaped berm along West Loomis Road, 3 
stormwater management areas and public water and sewer service to all dwelling units, 
property located at 12000 West Loomis Road (15.6 acres), zoned R-8 Multiple-Family 
Residence District; and    

 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found 
same to be in compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0421 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes 
of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan for the development of a condominium complex 
(“Woodfield Trail”), consisting of 26 dwelling units arranged in 13 side-by-side duplex 
structures, which will include a new cul-de-sac street connecting to West Ryan Road, with 
sidewalks on both sides, street trees, a landscaped berm along West Loomis Road, 3 
stormwater management areas and public water and sewer service to all dwelling units, 
property located at 12000 West Loomis Road (15.6 acres), zoned R-8 Multiple-Family 
Residence District, as depicted upon the plans dated May 31, 2022, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein, is hereby approved, subject to approval of the application for a Special 
Use, and subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
1. The property subject to the Site Plan shall be developed in substantial compliance 

with and operated and maintained pursuant to the Site Plan for the Stephen R. Mills, 
President of Bear Development, LLC condominium complex development 
(“Woodfield Trail”) dated May 31, 2022. 

2. Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC, successors and assigns, and 



STEPHEN R. MILLS, PRESIDENT OF BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-____ 
Page 2 

any developer of the Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC 
condominium complex development (“Woodfield Trail”) project, shall pay to the City 
of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees 
incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for 
the Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC condominium complex 
development (“Woodfield Trail”) project, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, 
and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general 
penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Stephen R. Mills, President of 
Bear Development, LLC condominium complex development (“Woodfield Trail”) 
project (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, 
codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, 
permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be 
developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. That the Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC condominium 
complex development (“Woodfield Trail”) shall be developed and constructed 
pursuant to such Site Plan within one year from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be 
null and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin. 

5. This Site Plan is subject to the conditions set forth in the Special Use resolution for 
the Woodfield Trail condominiums.   

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2022. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2022. 

 
APPROVED: 
 

 
       _________________________________  
ATTEST:      Stephen R. Olson, Chairman 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

12000 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 891 901 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-8 

R-3 

M-1 R-2 

C-1 R-8 
C-1 

LOOMIS
RD

RYAN                           RD   

LOOMIS CT

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 420 840210 Feet

Property

 



rmartinez
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1















March 11, 2019 
CM18048

Mr. Andy Ruffing
Musson Brothers, Inc.
4215 N. 124th Street
Brookfield, WI 53005

Re: Construction Testing Services Summary Report No. 1
Bear North Site
West Loomis Road
Franklin, Wisconsin

Dear Mr. Ruffing:

This report summarizes Construction · Geotechnical Consultants, Inc. (CGC) field observations
and results of the intermittent compaction testing program completed to-date within the Bear
North site in Franklin, Wisconsin.  The services were provided on an intermittent basis between
March 19 and September 27, 2018.  During this time period a total of twenty-seven (27) separate
visits were made to complete the prescribed testing program.  More specific details regarding
CGC’s field observations and the results of the field-testing program are presented in the
following paragraphs and attachments. 

1. General

The site is located on the north side of State Highway 36 (West Loomis Road), between
US Highway 45 (North Cape Road) to the west and Ryan Road to the east, in Franklin,
Wisconsin.  We understand that no specific development is planned for the site at this time. 
Filling of the site was performed to take advantage of the fill soils available from the nearby
Highway 100 roadway reconstruction project and was performed in accordance with the Site Use
and Agreement document between Musson Brothers, Inc. (Musson) and Mills Hotel
Wyoming, LLC dated March 16, 2018.  Based on review of a grading plan, dated March 7, 2018,
provided by Musson Brothers, Inc. the site grades prior to site preparation (i.e., topsoil stripping)
ranged between about EL 801 to 804 ft and the planned (fill-to) grade is generally EL 805 ft;
although swales were proposed along the southern edge of the property for site drainage
purposes.  Therefore, after site stripping, about 2 to 5 ft of new fill was anticipated to raise the
site.  Specifically, our efforts for the services covered by this report were focused on the
following:

· Subgrade Observations:  Following stripping of surficial topsoil, confirm the suitability
of the exposed subgrade conditions prior to engineered fill placement within those areas
of the site that required fill to raise the areas to the planned site grades.  Subgrade

C:\Users\cgc\Documents\Data\Projects\2018\18048\rpt1.wpd

rmartinez
Typewritten Text
Appendix #2

rmartinez
Typewritten Text



Mr. Andy Ruffing
Musson Brothers, Inc.
March 11, 2019
Page 2

evaluation within the fill areas were completed by proof-rolling with fully-loaded haul
and/or triaxial dump trucks.

· Field Density Testing:  Performed field density tests on an intermittent basis, as
scheduled by representatives of Musson to check the adequacy of compaction achieved
on fill materials placed during mass grading activities.

· Laboratory Testing:  Performed laboratory testing (i.e., Proctors) on the soils utilized
during fill placement.

· Reporting:  Developed this summary report which details the results of the field and
laboratory testing programs completed to-date; and  

More specific details regarding our field observations and results of the testing program are
outlined in the following paragraphs. 

2. Subgrade Observations Prior to Fill Placement

Subgrade proof-roll operations were observed on an ongoing basis as structural fill areas were
prepared on the dates of March 19, March 23, March 28, April 11 and May 1, 2018.  The results
of the proof-rolls overall indicated the subgrades were generally suitable for fill placement and
compaction, excluding one approximate 50 ft by 50 ft area northeast of the southern entrance to
the site which contained saturated clayey soils that exhibited moderate rutting (6 to 8 in.) and
instability.  To prepare this area for fill placement the saturated clays were undercut
approximately 12 in. to a suitable brown lean clay subgrade. 

3. Fill Placement

The March 7, 2018 grading plan showing the approximate extent of the fill areas for the project
is included as Figure 1 – Proposed Fill Area enclosed in Appendix A.  Fill soils throughout the
planned future development area consisted of imported lean clay, silty clay with variable sand
and gravel content and clayey to silty sand with gravel soils from Musson’s Highway 100 project
identified as Specimen Nos. 1 through 3.  A summary of the specimen soil descriptions,
maximum dry densities and optimum moisture contents, and accompanying Laboratory
Compaction Tests completed in our laboratory per modified Proctor (ASTM D1557) test
methods are attached with this report in Appendix B.    

C:\Users\cgc\Documents\Data\Projects\2018\18048\rpt1.wpd



Mr. Andy Ruffing
Musson Brothers, Inc.
March 11, 2019
Page 3

During this reporting period, a series of one hundred thirty-five (135) field density tests were
performed on the fills placed within the development areas of the site with a nuclear density
gauge to check the adequacy of compaction.  The fills were typically placed in 8- to 12- in. thick
loose lifts, spread with a dozer, then compacted with a sheepsfoot compactor.  The modified
Proctor maximum dry density values ranged between 125.0 to 135.5 pcf for the imported soils. 
A targeted minimum compaction level of 95 percent of the maximum dry density values was
established for this project.  Due to wet, rainy weather conditions during the intermittent filling
operations, difficulty with obtaining adequate compaction was routinely experienced.  Where
initial compaction levels fell below 95%, predominantly due to elevated moisture contents, the
soils were aerated and recompacted until they met the minimum required compaction level. 
Following the performance of retests (where required), the field density testing program
performed generally resulted in a level of compaction ranging between 95% to 100%, generally
meeting and/or exceeding the targeted 95% minimum level of compaction established for the
project.  

An exception was, however, encountered within the central portion of the site, the approximate
limits of which are indicated on Figure 1 enclosed in Appendix A.  Within this area, fill soils
were placed and adequately compacted to, on average, about EL 802 to 802.5 ft.  However,
subsequent lifts placed to about EL 803 ft were too wet to properly compact and perform
subsequent density tests.  It was our recommendation at the time, as communicated to Musson
field personnel, and in a subsequent meeting with Musson and Bear Development, that the soils
in this area be aerated to promote drying and recompacted until the targeted compaction levels
are obtained.  However, further site preparation within the central portion of the site has not been
performed to-date, due to project scheduling and weather conditions.  

We understand that placement of a surficial topsoil layer has been performed by Musson
throughout the majority of the southern and northern portions of the site, where passing density
tests have generally been achieved, to the planned subgrade elevations.  However, we understand
that it is currently proposed to document the lateral extent and the existing site grades within the
central area of the site where adequate compaction has not been achieved to-date.  Following
those documentation activities, we understand the current plan is to raise the central area of the
site with non-engineered fill and surficial topsoil to promote surface runoff from this area. 
Undercutting and full removal of the non-engineered fill materials placed above EL 803 ft and
further drying and recompaction of the underlying soils (at about EL 803 ft) will then be
performed in the future, possibly dependent on future development plans.  We recommend
documentation of the area be included in site documents to illustrate the need to perform
additional/remedial site preparation activities within the central portion of the site to provide
proper support for future structures and/or pavements.     

C:\Users\cgc\Documents\Data\Projects\2018\18048\rpt1.wpd



Mr. Andy Ruffing
Musson Brothers, Inc.
March 11, 2019
Page 4

Results of the field density testing program performed to-date are presented in Field Density
Test Report No. 1 attached in Appendix C.  The test locations (northing and easting) and test
elevations were provided to CGC by the on-site Musson personnel and are included in the Field
Density Test Report No. 1.  Laboratory compaction (Proctor) test reports are also attached in
Appendix B for your review.  

* * * * *

In summary, based on our intermittent field observations and results of the field-testing program
as outlined above and in the enclosed information, it is our opinion, with the exception of the fill
placed within the central portion of the site, that the engineered fills tested by CGC were
compacted satisfactorily and in general agreement with the project requirements.  It should be
recognized, however, that this report and its findings/results, is not intended to be and should not
be used as a substitute for a subsurface exploration and foundation subgrade evaluation which is
required to determine the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered fill soils and the
underlying natural soils.  The conditions contained in this report and previously discussed with
the project team, represent our professional opinion, based on our review of available
information, described above, part-time intermittent site observations and interpretations.  These
opinions were developed consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by
members of the engineering profession currently practicing in the same locality under similar
conditions.  No other representation is expressed or implied, and no warranty or guarantee is
included, or intended.

It has been a pleasure to serve you during this phase of the project.  If you have any questions or
need additional consultation or testing services, please give us a call.

Sincerely,

CGC, Inc.

Paul J. Giese, P.E.
Senior Consulting Professional 

Nathan I. Springstead, P.E.
Senior Staff Engineer

C:\Users\cgc\Documents\Data\Projects\2018\18048\rpt1.wpd



Mr. Andy Ruffing
Musson Brothers, Inc.
March 11, 2019
Page 5

Encl: Appendix A - Figure 1 – Proposed Fill Area 
Appendix B - Summary of Laboratory Compaction (Proctor) Test Results
Appendix C - Field Density Test Report – No. 1

cc via email:  Bear Development - Mr. Dan Szczap (dszczap@beardevelopment.com)

C:\Users\cgc\Documents\Data\Projects\2018\18048\rpt1.wpd

mailto:dszczap@beardevelopment.com


APPENDIX A

FIGURE 1 – PROPOSED FILL AREA 




































































	01 2022-0609 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2022-0519 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1._Bear Dev Woodfield Trail Condo_12000 W. Loomis Rd
	01 PC Report 06-09-22 - Woodfield Trail - Special Use and Site Plan
	INTRODUCTION
	PROJECT ANALYSIS:
	UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	City Development Staff recommends to table this Special Use and Site Plan until the applicant submits a geotechnical report to attest that the soil bearing pressure capacity of the engineered fill soils and the underlying natural soils is adequate for...

	02 Woodfield Trail condominium complex SU 6-02-22 - With conditions 4-9
	02a Woodfield Trail condominium SU 6-02-22 - Exhibit A
	03 Woodfield Trail condominium complex SP 06-02-22
	04 Planning Map_Aerial
	05 Standards Findings and Decision (Bear Dev.)_excluding exhibits
	06 BEAR NORTH Summary Report No. 1 (CGC CM18048) -excluding append B-C
	rpt1.pdf
	rpt1 appendix.pdf
	Figure 1 - Proposed Fill Area.pdf

	07 project narrative
	08 reponses to staff comments
	09 plan set 05-11-2022
	10 NRPP 05-11-2022




